
COUNTY OF SULLIVAN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
548 Broadway 

Monticello, New York 12701 
(845) 428-7575 - Voice 
(845) 428-7577 - Fax 
www.sullivanida.com 

TTY 711 
 

MEETING NOTICE 
TO:  Suzanne Loughlin, IDA Chairperson 

Edward Sykes, IDA Vice Chairman  
Carol Roig, IDA Secretary 

  Howard Siegel, IDA Treasurer & Chief Financial Officer 
Scott Smith, IDA Assistant Treasurer 

  Paul Guenther, IDA Member 
  Sean Brooks, IDA Member 
  Philip Vallone, IDA Member 
  Kathleen Lara, IDA Member 
  Chairman and Members of the Sullivan County Legislature 
  Josh Potosek, Sullivan County Manager 
  John Kiefer, IDA Chief Executive Officer 
  Walter Garigliano, Esq., IDA Counsel  
FROM:  Jennifer Flad, Executive Director 
DATE:  November 7, 2023 
 
PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that there will be a Regular Meeting of the County of Sullivan Industrial 
Development Agency scheduled as follows: 
 

Date:   Monday, November 13, 2023 
Time:   11:00 AM 
Location: Legislative Committee Room, Sullivan County Government Center, 100 North Street, 

Monticello, New York 12701 
 

This meeting video will also be livestreamed on the IDA’s YouTube Channel. 
 

Meeting documents will be posted online here. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEE REVERSE FOR AGENDA 
 
 

http://www.sullivanida.com/
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCqz9C4ODb5PjZNN80oAFctQ
http://www.sullivanida.com/2023-notices-agendas-minutes-and-resolutions/


 
COUNTY OF SULLIVAN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

548 Broadway 
Monticello, New York 12701 

(845) 428-7575 - Voice 
(845) 428-7577 - Fax 
www.sullivanida.com 

TTY 711 
 

MEETING AGENDA 
MONDAY, NOVEMBER 13, 2023 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 
II. ROLL CALL 
III. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES 

October 16, 2023 Regular Meeting 
IV. BILLS AND COMMUNICATIONS 
V. STAFF REPORT 
VI. NEW BUSINESS 

Resolution: Appointing Gibbers Estates LLC and M E P Wholesalers Corp. as Agent of the Agency 
for the Purpose of Acquiring, Constructing, Installing, and Equipping the Project; Making Certain 
Findings and Determinations with Respect to the Project; Authorizing the Execution and Delivery 
of an Agent and Project Agreement; Authorizing the Execution of a Lease to Agency, Leaseback to 
Company, Payment in Lieu of Tax Agreement, and Related Documents with Respect to the 
Project (re: HVAC and electrical supply retail facility in the Town of Fallsburg) 
Resolution: Authorizing the Engagement of Special Transaction Counsel for the Dimifini-Fallsburg, 
LLC Project (re: Rolling V Bus in the Town of Fallsburg) 
Resolution: Authorizing an Amendment of the Empire Resorts Real Estate I, LLC Payment in Lieu 
of Taxation Agreement (re: Monster Golf Course in the Town of Thompson) 
Resolution: Authorizing an Amendment of the Empire Resorts Real Estate II, LLC Payment in Lieu 
of Taxation Agreement (re: Alder Hotel in the Town of Thompson) 
Executive Session: To Discuss the Financial History of a Particular Corporation 
Any and All Other Business Before the Board 

VII. PUBLIC COMMENT AND ADJOURN  
## 

http://www.sullivanida.com/


 

- 1 - 

COUNTY OF SULLIVAN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
548 Broadway 

Monticello, New York 12701 
Tel: (845) 428-7575 
Fax: (845) 428-7577 

TTY 711 
www.sullivanida.com  

 
MEETING MINUTES 

Monday, October 16, 2023 
 

I.     CALL TO ORDER 
Vice Chairman Sykes called to order the regular meeting of the County of Sullivan Industrial 
Development Agency at approximately 11:04 AM in the Legislative Committee Room at the Sullivan 
County Government Center, 100 North Street, Monticello, New York 12701.   
 

II.      ROLL CALL 
Members Present-                       Members Absent- 
Edward Sykes                  Suzanne Loughlin (via Zoom) 
Carol Roig      Scott Smith 
Howard Siegel     Paul Guenther  
Sean Brooks                   
Kathleen Lara 
Philip Vallone 
                        
Staff Present-                               Staff Absent- 
John Kiefer, Chief Executive Officer  None 
Jennifer Flad, Executive Director 
Julio Garaicoechea, Project Manager 
Bethanii Padu, Economic Development Coordinator 
 

Others Present- 
Walter F. Garigliano, Agency Counsel 
Megha Bhouraskar, Project Counsel for Veria Lifestyle, Inc. (via Zoom) 
Robert Lorenc, Project Counsel for Veria Lifestyle, Inc. (via Zoom) 

 
III.  APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES 

On a motion made by Ms. Lara, and seconded by Mr. Vallone, the Board voted and unanimously 
approved the September 11, 2023 regular meeting minutes. 

 
IV.  BILLS AND COMMUNICATIONS 

Ms. Flad presented the Board with a schedule of payments showing eight payments totaling 
$48.007.03.  On a motion made by Mr. Siegel, and seconded by Ms. Roig, the Board voted and 
unanimously approved the schedule of payments.  

 
V.   STAFF REPORT & QUATERLY FINANCIAL REPORT 
 There were no questions on the September staff report and quarterly financial report. 
 
VI. NEW BUSINESS 

http://www.sullivanida.com/


 

- 2 - 

On a motion made by Mr. Siegel, and seconded by Mr. Vallone, the Board reviewed and discussed a 
resolution extending the sales tax abatement period for the Maude Crawford Realty LLC and 
Bridgeville Ski Company project from November 1, 2023 through and including April 30, 2024. This 
resolution relates to the rehabilitation of the Holiday Mountain Ski & Fun Park in the Town of 
Thompson. Vice Chairman Sykes called the motion to question, the Board voted, and the resolution 
was unanimously adopted.  
 
On a motion made by Mr. Brooks, and seconded by Ms. Lara, the Board reviewed and discussed a 
resolution authorizing execution of an amended and restated master development and agent 
agreement among the Agency, EPR Concord, EPT Concord, and together with EPR Concord and 
Adelaar Developer to extend the master developer designation for an additional period of 
approximately five years ending on October 31, 2028. The resolution relates to the master 
development of the former Concord Resort site in the Town of Thompson. Vice Chairman Sykes called 
the motion to question, the Board voted, and the resolution was unanimously adopted. 
 
On a motion made by Mr. Siegel, and seconded by Ms. Lara, the Board reviewed and discussed a 
resolution authorizing an amendment of the Adelaar Developer LLC payment in lieu of taxation 
agreement to extend the PILOT benefit period by two years. The resolution relates to the indoor water 
park resort hotel and related facilities in the Town of Thompson. Vice Chairman Sykes called the motion 
to question, the Board voted, and the resolution was unanimously adopted. 
 
On a motion made by Mr. Siegel, and seconded by Mr. Brooks, the Board reviewed and discussed a 
resolution authorizing an amendment of the Montreign Operating Company LLC payment in lieu of 
taxation agreement to extend the PILOT benefit period by two years. The resolution relates to the 
Resorts World Catskills Casino Resort in the Town of Thompson. Vice Chairman Sykes called the motion 
to question, the Board voted, and the resolution was unanimously adopted. 
 
On a motion made by Mr. Vallone, and seconded by Ms. Roig, the Board reviewed and discussed a 
resolution authorizing the execution and delivery of a first note extension and mortgage modification 
agreement securing a loan made to Yasgur Road Productions LLC from Bridge Capital Group LLC. 
The resolution relates to a campground in the Town of Bethel. Vice Chairman Sykes called the motion 
to question, the Board voted, and the resolution was unanimously adopted. 
 
On a motion made by Mr. Vallone, and seconded by Ms. Roig, the Board reviewed and discussed the 
Proposed FY 2024 Budget. The Board directed staff to raise the legal budget from $50,000 to $100,000. 
Vice Chairman Sykes called the motion to question, the Board voted, and the Proposed FY 2024 Budget 
was unanimously approved as revised.  
 

 
Mr. Sykes asked the Board and those present for public comment.  The Board recognized the comments 
of Megha Bhouraskar and Robert Lorenc. 

 
 
On a motion made by Mr. Brooks, and seconded by Ms. Roig, the Board entered Executive 
Session to discuss the financial and credit history of a specific corporation at approximately 
11:30 AM. 
 
On a motion made by Mr. Siegel, and second by Ms. Roig, the Board exited Executive Session 
at approximately 12:08 PM.  



 

- 3 - 

 
VII.  ADJOURN 

On a motion made by Mr. Vallone and seconded by Ms. Roig, the Board adjourned the meeting at 
approximately 12:09 PM.  

 
Respectfully submitted: 
Bethanii Padu, Economic Development Coordinator 
## 

 



No. Vendor Description Amount
1 Bluestein, Shapiro, Frank & Barone LLP Solar PILOT Agreements (NY Thompson III, NY Liberty II & NY 

Mamakating I) (pass-through)
300.00$           

2 Charter Communications Phone and Internet Services November 2023 279.95$           
3 Deborah Nola Accounting & Payroll Services- October 2023 500.00$           
4 Elan Financial Zoom, Adobe, Document Recording Fees, NYS Dept. of State, GoToMyPC, 

GoDaddy, FP Mailing Solutions, SC Clerk database 
822.52$           

5 Kristt Kelly Office Systems Corp. Office Supplies (paper, toners, service contracts (Ecosys M3540/FS1128)) 948.30$           

6 New Southern Tier Title Agency Office Rent: December 2023 3,700.00$        
7 Shepstone Management Company Cost Benefit Analysis (MEP Wholesalers) (pass through) 2,100.00$        
8 Sullivan County Democrat Legal notice & affidavit (MEP Wholesalers) (pass through ) 87.80$             

9 Walter F. Garigliano, P.C. November 2023 Retainer 250.00$           

10 Wilson, Elser, Moskowitz, Edelman & 
Dicker LLP

Hudsut/HVFG 5,140.47$        

11 USDA Rural Development RMAP Loan Payment November 2023 2,370.41$        

TOTAL 16,499.45$      

_________________________________ 11/13/2023
Signature Date

No. Vendor Description Amount

1
2 -$                 

TOTAL -$                 

No. Vendor Description Amount

1 Payroll Expenses Payroll Check Dates: 10/20/23 , 11/3/23 22,113.12$      

2 Francoty-Postalia Postage for postage meter 200.00$           

TOTAL     22,313.12$      

COUNTY OF SULLIVAN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY
548 Broadway, Monticello, NY 12701

845-428-7575
 SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS: November 13, 2023

I certify that the payments listed above were audited by the Board of the IDA on November 13, 2023 and allowed in the amounts shown.  You are 
hereby authorized and directed to pay each of the claimants in the amount opposite its name.

Expenses Approved and Paid Since Last Regular Meeting (10/16/23)

Other Expenses and Items Paid Since Last Regular Meeting (10/16/23)—no approval required

11132023 IDA Schedule of Payments



ACTIVITY REPORT – OCTOBER 2023 
COUNTY OF SULLIVAN INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT AGENCY (IDA), SULLIVAN COUNTY 

FUNDING CORPORATION (SCFC), THE SULLIVAN COUNTY INFRASTRUCTURE LOCAL 
DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION (TSCILDC) 

 

November 7th, 2023 
 
The IDA Board held its regular monthly meeting on October 16th, at which time the Board adopted 
the following resolutions: 

• Resolution authorizing the amendment of the EPR Concord II, L.P., EPT Concord II, LLC, and 
Adelaar Developer, LLC Master Developer and Agent Agreement, to extend the master developer 
designation for approximately five years. This relates to the master development of the former 
Concord Resort site in the Town of Thompson.  

• Resolution extending the sales tax abatement period for the Maude Crawford Realty LLC and 
Bridgeville Ski Company, Inc. Project (rehabilitation of Holiday Mountain Ski & Fun Park in the 
Town of Thompson).   

• Resolutions authorizing the amendment of the Adelaar Developer, LLC (Kartrite Waterpark) 
and Montreign Operating Company LLC (Resorts World Casino) Payment in Lieu of Taxation 
(PILOT) Agreements, to extend the PILOT benefit periods for these two projects by two years.  

• Resolution authorizing a mortgage modification and extension relating to the Yasgur Road 
Productions, LLC Project (campground in the Town of Bethel). 

 
The Sullivan County Funding Corporation (SCFC) and The Sullivan County Infrastructure Local 
Development Corporation (TSCILDC) Boards also met on October 16.  At the October 16 meetings, 
all three agencies adopted their 2024 budgets and financial plans.  Staff distributed the adopted 
budgets and financial plans to local and New York State officials in accordance with the General 
Municipal Law and Public Authorities Law.   
 
Staff members attended recent meetings of the Sullivan-Wawarsing Rural Economic Area 
Partnership (REAP) Board and Resilient Sullivan Advisory Committee.   
 
There will be an IDA public hearing on the proposed M E P Wholesalers Corp. and Gibbers 
Estates LLC Project on Wednesday, November 8th at 9:30 AM in the Town of Fallsburg Court Room, 
19 Railroad Plaza, South Fallsburg.  This project relates to the development of a heating, 
ventilation, air conditioning, and electrical supply retail sales facility with accessory office and 
warehousing space in South Fallsburg.   
 
The next regular meeting of the IDA Board will be held on Monday, November 13th at 11:00 AM in 
the Legislative Committee Room at the Sullivan County Government Center.  The TSCILDC Board 
will also meet on November 13th following the IDA meeting to conduct routine business. 
 

## 

























NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
 

  
 NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a public hearing pursuant to Article 18-A of the New 
York General Municipal Law will be held by the County of Sullivan Industrial Development 
Agency (the "Agency") on November 8, 2023, at 9:30 a.m., local time, in the Town of Fallsburg 
Court Room, 19 Railroad Plaza, South Fallsburg, New York, in connection with the following 
matter: 
 

Gibbers Estates LLC (“Gibbers”) and M E P Wholesalers Corp. (“M E P,” and together 
with Gibbers collectively, the “Company”) has submitted an application (the "Application"), a 
copy of which is on file with the Agency, requesting the Agency's assistance with a certain project 
consisting of the: (i) acquisition, construction, installation and equipping of an approximately 
15,000 +/- square foot building to include a heating, ventilation, air conditioning, and electrical 
supply retail sales facility with accessory office and warehousing space (“Building”) situate on 
one (1) parcel of real estate containing approximately 7.01 acres of land located on La Vista Drive,  
Town of Fallsburg (“Town”), County of Sullivan (“County”), State of New York and identified 
on the Town tax map as Section 60, Lot 1, Block 21.1 (“Land”);  (ii) construction and installation 
thereon and therein of certain furniture, fixtures, machinery, equipment and tools (“Equipment”); 
(iii) construction of improvements to the Building, the Land and the Equipment (collectively, the 
Building, the Land and the Equipment are referred to as the “Project”); and (iv) lease of the Project 
from the Agency to the Company. 
 

The Agency will acquire title to, or a leasehold interest in, the Project and lease the Project 
back to the Company.  The Company will operate the Project during the term of the lease.  At the 
end of the lease term, the Company will purchase the Project from the Agency, or if the Agency 
holds a leasehold interest, the leasehold interest will be terminated.  The Agency contemplates that 
it will provide financial assistance (the "Financial Assistance") to the Company in the form of sales 
and use tax exemptions and a mortgage recording tax exemption, consistent with the policies of 
the Agency, and a partial real property tax abatement. 
 

A representative of the Agency will be at the above-stated time and place to present a copy 
of the Company's Project Application and hear and accept written and oral comments from all 
persons with views in favor of or opposed to or otherwise relevant to the proposed Financial 
Assistance. 
  
 
Dated: October 25, 2023  By:   COUNTY OF SULLIVAN INDUSTRIAL  
       DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
   



Gibber Estates LLC 
MEP Wholesalers Corp. 

Application to County of Sullivan Industrial Development 
Agency for Financial Assistance for 

 

MEP Wholesalers Facility  

Benefit/Cost Analysis 
Prepared by: 

Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 
Planning & Research Consultants 

100 Fourth Street Honesdale, PA 18431 
(570) 251-9550  FAX 251-9551 

www.shepstone.net 
mail@shepstone.net 

November, 2023

http://www.shepstone.net
mailto:mail@shepstone.net?subject=


MEP Wholesalers Facility 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

Background: 

Gibber Estates, LLC and MEP Wholesalers Corp. (hereinafter jointly referred to as 

“MEP Wholesalers”) have applied for financial assistance to construct a new 15,000 

square foot HVAC/ electrical supply house and retail space in South Fallsburg. The 

location is 30 La Vista Drive in the Town of Fallsburg (Tax Map Parcel 60-1-21.1). A 

parcel map follows and the floor plan may be found on the next page. 

 

It is estimated $2,525,000 will be invested altogether, including $350,000 to acquire the 

property, and $1,550,000 in construction (of which roughly 45% or $700,000 represents 

sales taxable materials). Applying typical assessments for comparable projects yields 

an estimated $775,000 of assessed value for new real property improvements. MEP 

Wholesalers has applied to the County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency (IDA) 

for real property, mortgage and sales tax abatements to assist with the project. 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  1 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 



MEP Wholesalers Facility 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  2 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 



MEP Wholesalers Facility 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

New York State law governing IDAs requires "an analysis of the costs and benefits of 

the proposed project."  Shepstone Management Company, Inc. has been requested by 

the IDA to provide such an analysis on an independent basis.   

This study is designed to compare the economic benefits of the project, including both 

direct and indirect revenues generated for local and state government, against the costs 

to these governments for additional services required. Both direct and indirect costs are 

considered on this side of the equation as well. 

 

The following is a summary of the findings from this analysis, including supporting 

sources forming the basis for the conclusion reached. 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  3 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 



MEP Wholesalers Facility 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

Methods and Assumptions: 

The following methods and assumptions were employed for this analysis of this project: 

1) The project involves an estimated $1,550,000 in various improvements that 

qualify as real property, of which 45% or $700,000 are assumed to be sales 

taxable material and equipment purchases. These improvements will be made in 

phases that are, purposes of this analysis, are considered as taking place over a 

2023-24 construction period, although the actual period could be longer. 

 

2) It is assumed the IDA will approve a 

PILOT Agreement under the IDA’s 

Section 301.b Uniform Tax Exemption 

Policy Retail Sales Program, the 

PILOT to apply to the estimated 

assessed value of the real property 

improvements . The es t imated 

assessed value is $775,000 based on 

comparison with the assessed values 

of other comparable retail projects. 

The PILOT schedule is detailed in the 

table to the right. 

3) It is further assumed there will be a 

$2,100,000 mortgage and abatement 

of this tax will be part of this project. 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  4 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 

Year PILOT % % Abated
1 50.0% 50.0%
2 55.0% 45.0%
3 60.0% 40.0%
4 65.0% 35.0%
5 70.0% 30.0%
6 75.0% 25.0%
7 80.0% 20.0%
8 85.0% 15.0%
9 90.0% 10.0%
10 95.0% 5.0%
11 100.0% 0.0%
12 100.0% 0.0%
13 100.0% 0.0%
14 100.0% 0.0%
15 100.0% 0.0%

Real Property Tax
[Retail Program]

Abatement Schedule

http://www.sullivanida.com/uniform-tax-exempt-policy/
http://www.sullivanida.com/uniform-tax-exempt-policy/


MEP Wholesalers Facility 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

4) It is anticipated this project will involve five full-time equivalent jobs in Sullivan 

County at an average salary of $55,000 per year with an equal number 

construction FTE jobs (up to 20 jobs for 3 months) at the same rate. 

5) Additional annual costs to local government for providing highway maintenance 

and other non-educational services in the Town of Fallsburg were estimated 

based on the annual tax levy per household with a total of two new households 

attracted (25% of employees x employment multiplier of 1.50). 

  

6) Additional school costs are anticipated and are based on an estimated one new 

students at an average educational cost of $15,300 net of state aid. 

7) Sales taxes from operations are based on a conservative starting projection of 

$2,570,000 per year of sales, growing from there, with an estimated 50% being 

new to Sullivan County. 

8) Cash flow streams from benefits and costs are net present valued using a 

discount rate of 2.828% (current interest rate on the public debt over last five 

years). Net present value figures include actual costs of abatements and other 

costs for 2023 plus discounted values for 2024-2044. 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  5 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 

https://fiscaldata.treasury.gov/datasets/average-interest-rates-treasury-securities/average-interest-rates-on-u-s-treasury-securities
https://fiscaldata.treasury.gov/datasets/average-interest-rates-treasury-securities/average-interest-rates-on-u-s-treasury-securities


MEP Wholesalers Facility 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

Conclusion: 

This project will generate costs of $77,000 in real property, mortgage and sales tax 

abatements over the period of the standard PILOT agreement plus five years. Real 

property tax abatements in this case are valued as $0 due to the fact the Sullivan 

County IDA’s Retail Sales Program offers no additional benefits beyond those which can 

be obtained under Section 485-b of the Real Property Tax Law. Net present valued the 

costs, therefore, still amount to a total of $77,000 for sales and mortgage abatements 

that are limited to the construction period. There are also estimated highway and other 

municipal costs that, net present valued, amount to $128,850 and school costs ($89,485 

at net present value). 

The project benefits, net present valued, consist of sales taxes from operations 

($2,089,411) and personal income gains, including multiplier effects, ($1,439,264) for a 

total of $4,522,899 over the analysis period.  

This yields a positive benefit/cost ratio of 15.31 to 1.00. Leaving aside personal income 

gains, the ratio is still 10.44 to 1.00. 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  6 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 



MEP Wholesalers Facility 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

 

Cost/Benefit Analysis

Costs (2023-2044)

Sales Tax Abatements (County) $28,000
Sales Tax Abatements (State) $28,000
Mortgage Tax Abatements $21,000
Real Property Tax Reductions Net of 485-b Benefits $0

Sub-Total (Value of All Abatements) = $77,000

Net Present Value of Abatements $77,000
Additional School Costs $89,485
Variable Highway & Other Municipal Costs $128,850

Total Costs (Net Present Value)= $295,334

Benefits (Net Present Value, 2023-2044)
Real Property Taxes $994,224
Sales Taxes (From Operations)

County  $1,044,705
State $1,044,705

Personal Income Gains (New and Retained Jobs) $1,439,264
Total Benefits = $4,522,899

Excess Benefits Over Costs = $4,227,564
Excess Benefits Over Costs (Net of Income Gains)= $2,788,300

 Benefits to Costs Ratio = 15.31
 Net Benefits to Costs Ratio = 10.44

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  7 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 



MEP Wholesalers Facility 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

 

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  8 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 



MEP Wholesalers Facility 
Benefit/Cost Analysis 

 
 

FI
SC

AL
 Y

EA
R 

 
20

23
-24

20
25

20
26

20
27

20
28

20
29

20
30

20
31

20
32

20
33

20
34

20
35

DE
SC

RI
PT

IO
N

C1
1

2
3

4
5

6
7

8
9

10
11

Sa
les

 T
ax

 A
ba

tem
en

t
$5

6,0
00

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
Mo

rtg
ag

e T
ax

 A
ba

tem
en

t
$2

1,0
00

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
Re

al 
Pr

op
ert

y T
ax

 A
ba

tem
en

t
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
Hi

gh
wa

y/O
the

r C
os

ts
$0

$6
,52

0
$6

,71
6

$6
,91

7
$7

,12
5

$7
,33

9
$7

,55
9

$7
,78

6
$8

,01
9

$8
,26

0
$8

,50
8

$8
,76

3
Sc

ho
ol 

Co
sts

$0
$4

,52
8

$4
,66

4
$4

,80
4

$4
,94

8
$5

,09
7

$5
,25

0
$5

,40
7

$5
,56

9
$5

,73
6

$5
,90

8
$6

,08
6

Re
al 

Pr
op

ert
y T

ax
es

$0
$2

9,1
16

$3
2,9

88
$3

7,0
67

$4
1,3

60
$4

5,8
78

$5
0,6

30
$5

5,6
25

$6
0,8

75
$6

6,3
90

$7
2,1

80
$7

8,2
59

Pe
rso

na
l In

co
me

 - 
Ne

w/
Re

tai
ne

d J
ob

s
$0

$7
0,8

13
$7

5,1
25

$7
7,3

79
$7

9,7
00

$8
2,0

91
$8

4,5
54

$8
7,0

90
$8

9,7
03

$9
2,3

94
$9

5,1
66

$9
8,0

21
Ind

ire
ct 

Inc
om

e B
en

efi
ts

$0
$3

5,4
06

$3
7,5

62
$3

8,6
89

$3
9,8

50
$4

1,0
46

$4
2,2

77
$4

3,5
45

$4
4,8

52
$4

6,1
97

$4
7,5

83
$4

9,0
11

Ad
de

d S
ale

s T
ax

 (O
pe

rat
ion

s)
$0

$1
02

,80
0

$1
09

,06
1

$1
12

,33
2

$1
15

,70
2

$1
19

,17
3

$1
22

,74
9

$1
26

,43
1

$1
30

,22
4

$1
34

,13
1

$1
38

,15
5

$1
42

,29
9

FI
SC

AL
 Y

EA
R 

 
20

36
20

36
20

37
20

38
20

39
20

40
20

41
20

42
20

43
20

44
DE

SC
RI

PT
IO

N
12

13
14

15
16

17
18

19
20

21
Ac

tu
al

NP
V

Sa
les

 T
ax

 A
ba

tem
en

t
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$5

6,0
00

$5
6,0

00
Mo

rtg
ag

e T
ax

 A
ba

tem
en

t
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$2

1,0
00

$2
1,0

00
Re

al 
Pr

op
ert

y T
ax

 A
ba

tem
en

t
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
$0

$0
Hi

gh
wa

y/O
the

r C
os

ts
$9

,02
6

$9
,29

6
$9

,57
5

$9
,86

3
$1

0,1
58

$1
0,4

63
$1

0,7
77

$1
1,1

00
$1

1,4
33

$1
1,7

76
$1

75
,20

3
$1

28
,85

0
Sc

ho
ol 

Co
sts

$6
,26

8
$6

,45
6

$6
,65

0
$6

,84
9

$7
,05

5
$7

,26
7

$7
,48

5
$7

,70
9

$7
,94

0
$8

,17
9

$1
21

,67
6

$8
9,4

85
Re

al 
Pr

op
ert

y T
ax

es
$8

0,6
06

$8
3,0

25
$8

5,5
15

$8
8,0

81
$9

0,7
23

$9
3,4

45
$9

6,2
48

$9
9,1

36
$1

02
,11

0
$1

05
,17

3
$1

,38
9,2

59
$9

94
,22

4
Pe

rso
na

l In
co

me
 - 

Ne
w/

Re
tai

ne
d J

ob
s

$1
00

,96
2

$1
03

,99
1

$1
07

,11
0

$1
10

,32
4

$1
13

,63
3

$1
17

,04
2

$1
20

,55
4

$1
24

,17
0

$1
27

,89
5

$1
31

,73
2

$1
,95

7,7
17

$1
,43

9,2
64

Ind
ire

ct 
Inc

om
e B

en
efi

ts
$5

0,4
81

$5
1,9

95
$5

3,5
55

$5
5,1

62
$5

6,8
17

$5
8,5

21
$6

0,2
77

$6
2,0

85
$6

3,9
48

$6
5,8

66
$9

78
,85

8
$7

19
,63

2
Ad

de
d S

ale
s T

ax
 (O

pe
rat

ion
s)

$1
46

,56
8

$1
50

,96
5

$1
55

,49
4

$1
60

,15
9

$1
64

,96
4

$1
69

,91
3

$1
75

,01
0

$1
80

,26
0

$1
85

,66
8

$1
91

,23
8

$2
,84

2,0
59

$2
,08

9,4
11

TO
TA

LS

Ec
on

om
ic

 A
na

ly
si

s 
of

 P
ro

je
ct

 a
nd

 R
eq

ue
st

ed
 T

ax
 A

ba
te

m
en

t P
ro

gr
am

Ec
on

om
ic

 A
na

ly
si

s 
of

 P
ro

je
ct

 a
nd

 R
eq

ue
st

ed
 T

ax
 A

ba
te

m
en

t P
ro

gr
am

County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 	 Page  of  9 9
Shepstone Management Company, Inc. 







RESOLUTION 
 

A regular meeting of the County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency (“Agency”) 
was convened on November 13, 2023 at 11:00 a.m. local time at the Sullivan County Government 
Center, 100 North Street, Monticello, New York 12701. 

 
 The meeting was called to order by Vice Chairman Edward T. Sykes, and, upon the roll 
being called, the following members of the Agency were: 
 
     PRESENT  ABSENT 
   
 Suzanne Loughlin  [     ]  [     ] 
 Edward T. Sykes  [     ]  [     ] 
 Carol Roig   [     ]  [     ] 
 Howard Siegel   [     ]  [     ] 
 Scott Smith   [     ]  [     ] 
 Paul Guenther                         [     ]  [     ] 
 Sean Brooks   [     ]  [     ]  
 Philip Vallone   [     ]  [     ] 
 Kathleen Lara   [     ]  [     ] 
 
 
 The following persons were also present: 
 Jennifer M. Flad, Executive Director 
 John W. Kiefer, Chief Executive Officer 
 Julio Garaicoechea, Project Manager 
 Bethanii Padu, Economic Development Coordinator 
 Walter F. Garigliano, Agency General Counsel 
     
 The following resolution was duly offered by ___________________________, and 
seconded by ________________________________, to wit: 
 
 Resolution No. ____ - 23 
         

RESOLUTION OF THE AGENCY APPOINTING GIBBERS ESTATES LLC 
(“GIBBERS”) AND M E P WHOLESALERS CORP. (“M E P,” AND 
TOGETHER WITH GIBBERS COLLECTIVELY, THE “COMPANY”) AS ITS 
AGENT FOR THE PURPOSE OF ACQUIRING, CONSTRUCTING, 
INSTALLING AND EQUIPPING THE PROJECT (HEREINAFTER 
DEFINED); MAKING CERTAIN FINDINGS AND DETERMINATIONS 
WITH RESPECT TO THE PROJECT; AND AUTHORIZING THE 
EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF AN AGENT AND PROJECT 
AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE AGENCY AND THE COMPANY; 
AUTHORIZING THE AGENCY TO EXECUTE THE LEASE TO AGENCY 
(“LEASE”), LEASEBACK TO COMPANY (“LEASEBACK”), PAYMENT IN 



LIEU OF TAX AGREEMENT (“PILOT AGREEMENT”) AND RELATED 
DOCUMENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE ACQUISITION, CONSTRUCTION, 
INSTALLATION AND EQUIPPING OF THE PROJECT 
 

 WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of New 
York ("State"), as amended, and Chapter 560 of the Laws of 1970 of the State, as amended and 
codified as Section 960 of the General Municipal Law (collectively, the “Act”), the Agency was 
created with the authority and power to own, lease and sell property as authorized by the Act; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on or about September 18, 2023, the Company presented an application to 
the Agency (“Application”), a copy of which is on file at the office of the Agency, requesting that 
the Agency consider undertaking a project consisting of the: (i) acquisition, construction, 
installation and equipping of an approximately 15,000 +/- square foot building to include a heating, 
ventilation, air conditioning, and electrical supply retail sales facility with accessory office and 
warehousing space (“Building”) situate on one (1) parcel of real estate containing approximately 
7.01 acres of land located on La Vista Drive,  Town of Fallsburg (“Town”), County of Sullivan 
(“County”), State of New York and identified on the Town tax map as Section 60, Lot 1, Block 
21.1 (“Land”);  (ii) construction and installation thereon and therein of certain furniture, fixtures, 
machinery, equipment and tools (“Equipment”); (iii) construction of improvements to the 
Building, the Land and the Equipment (collectively, the Building, the Land and the Equipment are 
referred to as the “Project”); and (iv) lease of the Project from the Agency to the Company; and 
    
 WHEREAS, it is contemplated that the Agency will (i) designate the Company as its agent 
for the purpose of acquiring, constructing, installing and equipping the Project; (ii) negotiate and 
enter into an Agent and Project Agreement, the Lease, the Leaseback and the PILOT Agreement 
with the Company (collectively, the “Transaction Documents”); (iii) hold a leasehold interest in 
the Land, the improvements and personal property thereon which constitute the Project; and (iv) 
provide financial assistance to the Company in the form of (a) sales tax exemption for purchases 
related to the acquisition, construction, installation and equipping of the Project; (b) a real property 
tax abatement on increased value resulting from improvements to the Land through the PILOT 
Agreement; and (c) a mortgage tax exemption for financing related to the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the total financial assistance being contemplated by the Agency is greater 
than $100,000; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law and the 
regulations adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of Environmental Conservation of the 
State of New York (“SEQR”), the Agency constitutes a “State Agency”; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to aid the Agency in determining whether the Project may have significant 
adverse effects on the environment, the Company has presented a Short Environmental 
Assessment Form (“EAF”) to the Agency with respect to the Project for its review; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency has determined that the Project is an Unlisted Action under 
SEQR; and 



 WHEREAS, the Agency has given due consideration to the Application of the Company 
and to representations by the Company that the proposed financial assistance is an inducement to 
the Company to undertake the Project; and 
  
 WHEREAS, the Agency has considered the following matters as more fully set forth in its 
Uniform Tax Exemption Policies: 
 

A. Permanent private sector job creation and retention; 
B. Estimated value of the tax exemption; 
C. Whether the affected taxing jurisdictions shall be reimbursed by the Company if 

the Project does not fulfill the purposes for which the exemption was granted; 
D. Impact of Project on existing and proposed business or economic development 

projects; 
E. The amount of private sector investment generated or likely to be generated by the 

Project; 
F. Demonstrated public support for the Project; 
G. Likelihood of accomplishing the Project in a timely fashion; 
H. Environmental impact; 
I. Extent to which the Project will require additional services including, but not 

limited to educational, police, transportation, EMS and fire; 
J. Extent to which the Project will provide additional revenues; and 
K. A Cost Benefit Analysis. 

 
; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency desires to encourage the Company to advance the job 
opportunities, health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of Sullivan County, 
New York by providing the contemplated financial assistance and undertaking the Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Executive Director has negotiated the Transaction Documents with the 
Company; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Transaction Documents have been prepared by Agency Counsel. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE AGENCY AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. The Company has presented to the Agency, among other things: 
 

(A) An Application in form acceptable to the Agency;  
(B) A Cost/Benefit Analysis relating to the proposed financial assistance; and 
(C) A Short EAF. 

 
Section 2. Based upon (i) the representations made by the Company to the Agency, and (ii) a 

review of the EAF presented to the Agency, the EAF reviewed and acted upon by 



the Town of Fallsburg Planning Board, and (iii) related documents, the Agency 
hereby determines that: 

 
(A) The Project is an Unlisted Action under the SEQR.  Based upon the review 

by the Agency of the EAF the Town of Fallsburg SEQR proceedings and 
the representations made by the Company to the Agency in connection with 
the Project, the Agency hereby finds that (i) the Project will result in no 
major impacts and therefore, is one which may not cause significant damage 
to the environment; (ii) the Project will not have a “significant effect on the 
environment” as such quoted term is defined in Article 8 of the 
Environmental Conservation Law and Regulations adopted pursuant thereto 
by the Department of Environmental Conservation of the State; and (iii) no 
“environmental impact statement” as such quoted term is defined in SEQR 
need be prepared for this action.  This determination constitutes a negative 
declaration for purposes of SEQR.  The Agency’s findings are incorporated 
in the EAF. 

 
A copy of this resolution shall together with the attachments thereto be 

placed on file in the office of the Agency where the same shall be available for 
public inspection during business hours, and notices of this negative declaration 
shall be filed in such offices, posted in such places, and published in such 
publications as shall be necessary to conform with the requirements of SEQR. 

 
Section 3. The Agency has determined that the proposed financial assistance exceeds the sum 

of $100,000.00 and therefore a public hearing on due notice was held on November 
8, 2023 at 9:30 a.m., local time, in the Town of Fallsburg Court Room, 19 Railroad 
Plaza, South Fallsburg, New York, at which hearing comments relating to the 
proposed financial assistance were solicited.  Said public hearing was open to the 
general public and public notice of the time and place of said public hearing was 
duly given in accordance with the applicable provisions of the General Municipal 
Law of the State. 

 
Section 4. Based upon representations made by the Company to the Agency, the Agency 

hereby makes, finds and determines as follows: 
 

(A) By virtue of the Act, the Agency has been vested with all powers necessary 
and convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes and provisions of 
the Act and to exercise all powers granted to it under the Act;  

(B) It is desirable and in the public interest for the Agency to (i) acquire an 
interest in the Land and to take a leasehold interest in the improvements and 
personal property constituting the Project; (ii) appoint the Company as its 
agent for purposes of acquiring, constructing, installing and equipping the 
Project, and (iii) lease the Land, improvements and personal property 
constituting the Project to the Company pursuant to the Lease and the 
Leaseback, subject to the PILOT Agreement; 



(C) The Agency has the authority to take the actions contemplated therein under 
the Act; and 

(D) The action to be taken by the Agency will induce the Company to develop 
the Project, thereby increasing employment opportunities in the County and 
otherwise furthering the purposes of the Agency as set forth in the Act. 

    
Section 5. Subject to the Company executing an Agent and Project Agreement in form and 

substance approved by the Executive Director, the Agency hereby authorizes the 
Company to proceed with the acquisition, construction, installation and equipping 
of the Project and hereby appoints the Company as the true and lawful agent of the 
Agency to construct, acquire, construct, install and equip the Project on behalf of 
the Agency; with the authority to delegate its status as agent of the Agency to the 
Company’s agents, subagents, contractors, subcontractors, suppliers, vendors and 
other such parties as the Company may choose.  The appointment described above 
includes the following activities as they relate to the acquisition, construction, 
installation and equipping of the Project, whether or not the materials, services or 
supplies described below are incorporated into or become an integral part of the 
Project; (i) all purchases, leases, rentals and other uses of tools, machinery and 
equipment in connection with the acquisition, construction, installation and 
equipping of the Project; (ii) all purchases, rentals, uses or consumption of supplies, 
materials and services of every kind and description in connection with the 
acquisition, construction, installation and equipping of the Project; and (iii) all 
purchases, leases, rentals and uses of equipment, machinery, and other tangible 
personal property (including installation costs with respect thereto), installed or 
placed in, upon or under the Project, including all repairs and replacements of such 
property.  This Agency appointment includes the power to make, execute, 
acknowledge and deliver any contracts, orders, receipts, writings and instructions, 
as the stated agents for the Agency, and in general to do all things which may be 
requisite or proper for completing the Project, all with the same powers and with 
the same validity as the Agency could do if acting on its own behalf.  The aforesaid 
appointment of the Company as agent of the Agency to reconstruct and equip the 
Project shall expire on May 31, 2024 if the Transaction Documents have not been 
executed and delivered. 

 
Section 6. Based upon the representation and warranties made by the Company in its 

application for financial assistance, the Agency hereby authorizes and approves the 
Company, as its agent, to make purchases of goods and services relating to the 
Project and that would otherwise be subject to New York State and local sales and 
use tax in an amount up to $700,000, which result in New York State and local 
sales and use tax exemption benefits ("sales and use tax exemption benefits") not 
to exceed $56,000.  The Agency agrees to consider any requests by the Company 
for increase to the amount of sales and use tax exemption benefits authorized by 
the Agency upon being provided with appropriate documentation detailing the 
additional purchases of property or services. 

 



Section 7. Pursuant to Section 875(3) of the New York General Municipal Law, the Agency 
may recover or recapture from the Company, its agents, consultants, 
subcontractors, or any other party authorized to make purchases for the benefit of 
the Project, any sales and use tax exemption benefits taken or purported to be taken 
by the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party 
authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, if it is determined that: 
(i) the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party 
authorized to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, is not entitled to the 
sales and use tax exemption benefits; (ii) the sales and use tax exemption benefits 
are in excess of the amounts authorized to be taken by the Company, its agents, 
consultants, subcontractors, or any other party authorized to make purchases for the 
benefit of the Project; (iii) the sales and use tax exemption benefits are for property 
or services not authorized by the Agency as part of the Project; or (iv) the sales and 
use tax exemption benefits are taken in cases where the Company, its agents, 
consultants, subcontractors, or any other party authorized to make purchases for the 
benefit of the Project, fails to comply with a material term or condition to use 
property or services in the manner approved by the Agency in connection with the 
Project.  As a condition precedent of receiving sales and use tax exemption benefits, 
the Company, its agents, consultants, subcontractors, or any other party authorized 
to make purchases for the benefit of the Project, must (i) cooperate with the Agency 
in its efforts to recover or recapture any sales and use tax exemption benefits, and 
(ii) promptly pay over any such amounts to the Agency that the Agency demands. 

  
Section 8. The Transaction Documents which were negotiated by the Executive Director are 

hereby approved as to form and substance on condition that: (i) the payments under 
the Leaseback include payments of all costs incurred by the Agency arising out of 
or related to the Project and indemnification of the Agency by the Company for 
actions taken by the Company and/or claims arising out of or related to the Project; 
and (ii) the terms of the PILOT Agreement are consistent with the Agency’s 
Uniform Tax Exemption Policy. 

 
Section 9. The Chairperson or Executive Director of the Agency is hereby authorized, on 

behalf of the Agency, to execute and deliver the Transaction Documents in the form 
presented at this meeting all with such changes, variations, omissions and insertions 
as the Chairperson or Executive Director of the Agency shall approve, the execution 
thereof by the Chairperson or Executive Director of the Agency to constitute 
conclusive evidence of such approval. 

 
Section 10. The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby authorized and 

directed  in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts and things required 
and to execute and deliver all such certificates, instruments and documents, to pay 
all such fees, charges and expenses and to do all such further acts and things as may 
be necessary or, in the opinion of the officer, employee or agent acting, desirable 
and proper to effect the purposes of this resolution and to cause compliance by the 
Agency with all of the terms, covenants and provisions of the documents executed 



for and on behalf of the Agency. 
 
Section 11. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of the Agency concerning 

and relating to the adoption of this resolution were adopted in an open meeting of 
the Agency; and that all deliberations of the Agency and of any of its committees 
that resulted in such formal action were in meetings open to the public, in 
compliance with all legal requirements. 

 
Section 12. The Executive Director or Counsel to the Agency is hereby authorized and directed 

(i) to distribute copies of this resolution to the Company; and (ii) to do such further 
things or perform such acts as may be necessary or convenient to implement the 
provisions of this resolution. 

 
Section 13. This resolution shall take effect immediately. 
 
 
 The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call, 
which resulted as follows: 
 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Edward T. Sykes  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Carol Roig   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Howard Siegel   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Scott Smith   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Paul Guenther   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Sean Brooks   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Philip Vallone   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Kathleen Lara   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 
 The resolution was thereupon duly adopted. 
  



STATE OF NEW YORK : 
              :SS 
COUNTY OF SULLIVAN    : 
 
 I, the undersigned Secretary of the Agency DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT: 
 
1. I have compared the foregoing copy of a resolution of the County of Sullivan Industrial 

Development Agency (“Agency”) with the original thereof on file in the office of the 
Agency, and that the same is a true and correct copy of such resolution and of the 
proceedings of the Agency in connection with such matter. 

 
2. Such resolution was passed at a meeting of the Agency duly convened in public session on 

November 13, 2023 at 11:00 a.m. at the Sullivan County Government Center, 100 North 
Street, Village of Monticello, Sullivan County, New York. at which the following members 
were present: 

 
     PRESENT  ABSENT 
   
 Suzanne Loughlin  [     ]  [     ] 
 Edward T. Sykes  [     ]  [     ] 
 Carol Roig   [     ]  [     ] 
 Howard Siegel   [     ]  [     ] 
 Scott Smith   [     ]  [     ] 
 Paul Guenther                         [     ]  [     ] 
 Sean Brooks   [     ]  [     ]  
 Philip Vallone   [     ]  [     ] 
 Kathleen Lara   [     ]  [     ] 
 
3. The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call 

which resulted as follows: 
 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Edward T. Sykes  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Carol Roig   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Howard Siegel   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Scott Smith   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Paul Guenther   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Sean Brooks   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Philip Vallone   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Kathleen Lara   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 
 and therefore, the resolution was declared duly adopted. 
  
60426-001v2 

 



 I FURTHER CERTIFY that (i) all members of the Agency had due notice of said meeting, 
(ii) pursuant to Sections 103(a) and 104 of the Public Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), said 
meeting was open to the general public and public notice of the time and place of said meeting 
was duly given in accordance with such Sections 103(a) and 104, (iii) the meeting in all respects 
was duly held, and (iv) there was a quorum present throughout.     
      
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal on the 13th day of 
November, 2023. 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Carol Roig, Secretary 
  
 
 
   



















RESOLUTION 
 

A regular meeting of the County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency (“Agency”) 
was convened on November 13, 2023 at 11:00 a.m. local time at the Sullivan County Government 
Center, 100 North Street, Monticello, New York 12701. 

 
 The meeting was called to order by Vice Chairman Edward T. Sykes, and, upon the roll 
being called, the following members of the Agency were: 
 
     PRESENT  ABSENT 
   
 Suzanne Loughlin  [     ]  [     ] 
 Edward T. Sykes  [     ]  [     ] 
 Carol Roig   [     ]  [     ] 
 Howard Siegel   [     ]  [     ] 
 Scott Smith   [     ]  [     ] 
 Paul Guenther                         [     ]  [     ] 
 Sean Brooks   [     ]  [     ]  
 Philip Vallone   [     ]  [     ] 
 Kathleen Lara   [     ]  [     ] 
 
 
 The following persons were also present: 
 Jennifer M. Flad, Executive Director 
 John W. Kiefer, Chief Executive Officer 
 Julio Garaicoechea, Project Manager 
 Bethanii Padu, Economic Development Coordinator 
 Walter F. Garigliano, Agency General Counsel 
     
 The following resolution was duly offered by ___________________________, and 
seconded by ________________________________, to wit: 
 
 Resolution No. ____ - 23 
         

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING ENGAGEMENT OF ___________________ 
AS SPECIAL TRANSACTION COUNSEL FOR THE DIMIFINI-
FALLSBURG, LLC PROJECT 
 

 WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of New 
York ("State"), as amended, and Chapter 560 of the Laws of 1970 of the State, as amended and 
codified as Section 960 of the General Municipal Law (collectively, the “Act”), the Agency was 
created with the authority and power to own, lease and sell property as authorized by the Act; and 
 
  



WHEREAS, on or about April 10, 2006 the Agency received an application (as amended) 
from Rolling V Bus Corp. (“Rolling V”) and Dimifini Group, Inc. (“Dimifini Group”) related to 
the (i) construction, installation and equipping of an expansion of the Companies’ existing building 
consisting of approximately 2,025± square feet (“Building”) situate on one (1) parcel of real estate 
consisting of approximately 3.26± acres to be located at 5008 Main Street in the Town of Fallsburg, 
County of Sullivan, in the State and identified on the Town of Fallsburg tax map as Section 60, 
Block 1, Lot 28.3 (“Land”) intended to be used as office and training space and related facilities 
an interest in which the Agency is to acquire; (ii) acquisition and installation thereon and therein 
of certain furniture, fixtures, machinery, equipment and tools (“Equipment”); (iii) construction of 
improvements to the Building, the Land and the Equipment (collectively, the Building, the Land 
and the Equipment are referred to as the “Facility” or the “Project”); and (iv) lease the Facility 
from the Agency to Rolling V and Dimifini Group; and 

 
WHEREAS, on or about September 1, 2006, Rolling V, Dimifini Group and the Agency 

entered into, among other documents, a Lease Agreement (“Lease”) and a Memorandum of Lease 
(“Memo of Lease”); and Dimifini Group and the Agency entered into a Payment in Lieu of Tax 
Agreement (“PILOT” and together with the Lease and Memo of Lease, collectively, the “2006 
Transaction Documents”). 

 
WHEREAS, by Assignment and Assumption of Lease, effective as of July 1, 2016, 

Dimifini Group assigned its rights under the Lease to Dimifini-Fallsburg, LLC (“Dimifini-
Fallsburg”); and 

 
WHEREAS, by Assignment and Assumption of Lease, effective as of October 1, 2023, 

Rolling V assigned its rights under the Lease to Dimifini-Fallsburg; and 
 
WHEREAS, by letter dated November 1, 2023, Dimifini-Fallsburg requested the Agency 

amend and restate the 2006 Transaction Documents so that Dimifini-Fallsburg will be the 
Agency’s counterparty.    

 
WHEREAS, WALTER F. GARIGLIANO P.C., counsel to the Agency, has on prior 

occasions represented Dimifini-Fallsburg and has disqualified himself from providing legal 
services to the Agency in connection with the Project; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Agency desires to appoint special transaction counsel to represent the 

Agency in connection with Dimifini-Fallsburg’s pending request to amend and restate the 2006 
Transaction Documents. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE AGENCY AS 
FOLLOWS: 
 
Section 1. The Agency hereby authorizes the Executive Director to engage the firm of 

____________________________ as special transaction counsel in connection 
with Dimifini-Fallsburg’s pending request to amend and restate the 2006 
Transaction Documents. 



 
Section 2. The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby authorized and 

directed for and in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts and things 
required and to execute and deliver all such certificates, instruments, documents, 
and to pay all such fees, charges and expenses and to do all such further acts and 
things as may be necessary or in the opinion of the officer, employee or agent 
acting on behalf of the Agency desirable and proper to effect the purposes of the 
foregoing resolutions and to cause compliance by the Agency with all the terms, 
covenants and provisions of the documents for and on behalf of the Agency. 

 
Section 3. This resolution shall take effect immediately. 
 
 
 The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call, 
which resulted as follows: 
 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Edward T. Sykes  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Carol Roig   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Howard Siegel   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Scott Smith   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Paul Guenther   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Sean Brooks   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Philip Vallone   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Kathleen Lara   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 
 The resolution was thereupon duly adopted. 
  



STATE OF NEW YORK : 
              :SS 
COUNTY OF SULLIVAN    : 
 
 I, the undersigned Secretary of the Agency DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT: 
 
1. I have compared the foregoing copy of a resolution of the County of Sullivan Industrial 

Development Agency (“Agency”) with the original thereof on file in the office of the 
Agency, and that the same is a true and correct copy of such resolution and of the 
proceedings of the Agency in connection with such matter. 

 
2. Such resolution was passed at a meeting of the Agency duly convened in public session on 

November 13, 2023 at 11:00 a.m. at the Sullivan County Government Center, 100 North 
Street, Village of Monticello, Sullivan County, New York. at which the following members 
were present: 

 
     PRESENT  ABSENT 
   
 Suzanne Loughlin  [     ]  [     ] 
 Edward T. Sykes  [     ]  [     ] 
 Carol Roig   [     ]  [     ] 
 Howard Siegel   [     ]  [     ] 
 Scott Smith   [     ]  [     ] 
 Paul Guenther                         [     ]  [     ] 
 Sean Brooks   [     ]  [     ]  
 Philip Vallone   [     ]  [     ] 
 Kathleen Lara   [     ]  [     ] 
 
3. The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call 

which resulted as follows: 
 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Edward T. Sykes  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Carol Roig   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Howard Siegel   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Scott Smith   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Paul Guenther   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Sean Brooks   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Philip Vallone   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Kathleen Lara   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 
 and therefore, the resolution was declared duly adopted. 
  
70338-002v3 

 



 I FURTHER CERTIFY that (i) all members of the Agency had due notice of said meeting, 
(ii) pursuant to Sections 103(a) and 104 of the Public Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), said 
meeting was open to the general public and public notice of the time and place of said meeting 
was duly given in accordance with such Sections 103(a) and 104, (iii) the meeting in all respects 
was duly held, and (iv) there was a quorum present throughout.     
      
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal on the 13th day of 
November, 2023. 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Carol Roig, Secretary 
  
 
 
   



  
 

 
 
 

Via E-mail only 
 
                                                                       November 6, 2023 
 
 

Walter Garigliano, Esq. 
Garigliano Law Offices, LLP 
449 Broadway, P.O. Box 1069 
Monticello, New York 12701 

 
Jennifer M. Flad, Executive Director 
County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency 
548 Broadway 
Monticello, New York 12701 

 
RE:  Payment in Lieu of Taxation Agreement between County of Sullivan Industrial Development 

Agency and Empire Resorts Real Estate II, LLC dated March 1, 2018 And First Amendment 
Payment in Lieu of Taxation Agreement dated March 31, 2022 (the "Alder Amended PILOT 
Agreement") and Payment in Lieu of Taxation Agreement between County of Sullivan 
Industrial Development Agency and Empire Resorts Real Estate I, LLC dated December 22, 
2016 (the "Golf PILOT Agreement") 

 
Dear Mr. Garigliano and Ms. Flad: 

 
Please accept this letter on behalf of Empire Resorts Real Estate I, LLC and Empire Resorts Real 

Estate II, LLC as a formal request to extend the above referenced Alder Amended PILOT Agreement and the 
Golf PILOT Agreement. As you know, our “campus” was shut down by Order of the Governor in March, 2020. 
Progress on construction of The Monster Golf Course was also suspended.  In late 2020, The Alder was able 
to re-open will the following limitations: 1) 25% occupancy limit; 2) early closure time of 10:00 p.m.; and 3) a 
ban on indoor dining from December, 2020 to February, 2021. In May, 2021 hotels and restaurants were 
permitted to return to 50% occupancy. On June 15, 2021 the Governor lifted all restrictions.  At that time we 
began the process of recalling the balance of our employees and attempting to get back to normal.  At that time 
and to this day, amenities within The Alder remain unable to open on a full schedule due to supply chain issues, 
labor shortages, etc.  The Monster Golf Course was finally completed and opened to the public on August 29, 
2023. 

 
For the above reasons, Empire Resorts Real Estate I, LLC and Empire Resorts Real Estate II, LLC is 

respectfully requesting a two (2) year extension of the Alder Amended PILOT Agreement as well as the Golf 
PILOT Agreement. Should you have any questions or comments, please do not hesitate to contact me at 347-
502-3565. Thank you for your consideration. 

 
 

Very truly yours, 
 

Karen M. Cho 
 
Karen M. Cho 
General Counsel New York State 

 
 
cc:      Robert DeSalvio, President 

Meghan Taylor, VP of Government Affairs and           
Public Relations 



 

 

RESOLUTION 
 

A regular meeting of the County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency (“Agency”) 
was convened on November 13, 2023 at 11:00 a.m. local time at the Sullivan County Government 
Center, 100 North Street, Monticello, New York 12701. 

 
 The meeting was called to order by Vice Chairman Edward T. Sykes, and, upon the roll 
being called, the following members of the Agency were: 
 
     PRESENT  ABSENT 
   
 Suzanne Loughlin  [     ]  [     ] 
 Edward T. Sykes  [     ]  [     ] 
 Carol Roig   [     ]  [     ] 
 Howard Siegel   [     ]  [     ] 
 Scott Smith   [     ]  [     ] 
 Paul Guenther                         [     ]  [     ] 
 Sean Brooks   [     ]  [     ]  
 Philip Vallone   [     ]  [     ] 
 Kathleen Lara   [     ]  [     ] 
 
 The following persons were also present: 
 Jennifer M. Flad, Executive Director 
 John W. Kiefer, Chief Executive Officer 
 Julio Garaicoechea, Project Manager 
 Bethanii Padu, Economic Development Coordinator 
 Walter F. Garigliano, Agency General Counsel 

 
        
 The following resolution was duly offered by ___________, and seconded by 
_______________, to wit: 
 
 Resolution No. __ - 23 
        

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN AMENDMENT OF THE 
EMPIRE RESORTS REAL ESTATE I, LLC (“ERREI”) PAYMENT 
IN LIEU OF TAXATION AGREEMENT TO EXTEND THE PILOT 
BENEFIT PERIOD BY TWO (2) YEARS 

 
 WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of New 
York ("State"), as amended, and Chapter 560 of the Laws of 1970 of the State, as amended and 
codified as Section 960 of the General Municipal Law (collectively, the “Act”), the Agency was 
created with the authority and power to own, lease and sell property as authorized by the Act; and 
 
 



 

 

WHEREAS, EPT Concord II, LLC (“EPT II”) for itself and on behalf of an entity or entities 
to be formed (collectively the, “EPT Entities”) submitted an application (“EPT Application”) to 
the Agency on February 12, 2013, requesting that the Agency undertake a certain project in one or 
more phases, (the “Master Development Project”) for the benefit of the EPT Entities consisting of: 
(i) the acquisition by the Agency of a leasehold interest or other interest in approximately seventy-
one (71) parcels of land containing in the aggregate approximately 1,735 acres within the Town of 
Thompson, Sullivan County, New York (the “EPT Land”), (ii) the construction and equipping on 
the EPT Land of a master planned destination resort community to include (a) an 18-hole golf 
course with clubhouse and maintenance facilities, (b) a casino resort to include a casino, hotel, 
harness horse racetrack, grandstand/showroom, simulcast facility, banquet event center, 
restaurants and related facilities, (c) hotels, (d) a waterpark, (e) a recreational vehicle park, (f) an 
entertainment village with a cinema and supporting retail facilities, (g) a residential village 
containing a mix of unit types including condominiums, apartments, townhouses and detached 
single-family homes, a civic center and an active adult residential community, all or a portion of 
which will be connected, via a multi-use trail system, to open space (collectively, the “EPT 
Improvements”), and (iii) the acquisition in and around the EPT Land and the EPT Improvements 
of certain items of equipment and other tangible personal property (the “EPT Equipment”, and 
collectively with the EPT Land and the EPT Improvements, the “EPT Project”); and 
 

WHEREAS, on October 21, 2013, the Agency and EPT II entered into a Master 
Development and Agent Agreement authorizing the EPT Entities to proceed with certain work 
limited in scope to soil erosion and sediment control, clearing and grubbing, earthwork, 
construction of new roads and improvements and enhancements to existing roads, constructed 
wetlands, landscaping, sanitary sewer, water, storm sewer, electric power, telephone service, cable 
tv, internet connectivity, demolition of existing structures, and all other related facility, equipment, 
improvements and infrastructure costs as set forth in the EPT Application together with a Lease to 
Agency, Leaseback to Company, Payment in Lieu of Tax Agreement and related documents 
(collectively the, “EPT Transaction Documents”); and 
 

WHEREAS, on or about December 31, 2013, with the consent of the Agency, EPT II 
transferred a portion of the EPT Land to EPR Concord II, L.P. (“EPR II”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the EPT Entities and ERREI, a wholly owned subsidiary of Montreign 
Operating Company, LLC (“MOC”), entered into an agreement whereby ERREI leased a portion 
of the EPT Land from the EPT Entities effective only if MOC a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Empire Resorts, Inc., was selected by the New York State Gaming Facility Location Board to 
apply to the New York State Gaming Commission (“NYSGC”) for the award of a license to operate 
a Gaming Facility (as hereinafter defined); and 

 
WHEREAS, on December 21, 2015, the NYSGC awarded a Gaming Facility License (the 

“Gaming Facility License”) to MOC; and 
 
WHEREAS, subsequent to the award of the Gaming Facility License, in December 2015, 

ERREI and EPR II (and its successors or related entities) entered into agreements wherein it was 
agreed that ERREI will be the entity developing the Monster Golf Course on the Golf Project 
Land; and   



 

 

 WHEREAS, on or about March 25, 2016, ERREI presented an application (“Golf Project 
Application”) to the Agency requesting that the Agency consider undertaking a project consisting 
of the: (i) acquisition, construction, installation and equipping of a new eighteen (18) hole golf 
course (“Golf Course”), an approximately 14,000± square foot clubhouse, an approximately 
12,800± square foot maintenance building and related structures (“Buildings”)  situate on eleven 
(11) parcels of real estate consisting of approximately 237± acres located along Thompsonville 
Road and Chalet Road, Town of Thompson (“Town”), County of Sullivan (“County”), State and 
identified on the Town tax map as all or a portion of tax map numbers (that existed in 2016) 15.-
1-13, 15.-1-14.1, 15.-1-14.2, 15.-1-15, 15.-1-16, 15.-1-17, 15.-1-18, 15.-1-50, 23.-1-52.2, 23.-1-
53.2, and 23.-1-54.5 (“Golf Project Land”); (ii) acquisition, construction and equipping of the Golf 
Course and Buildings; (iii) acquisition, construction and installation thereon and therein of certain 
furniture, fixtures, machinery, equipment and tools (“Golf Project Equipment”); (iv) construction 
of improvements to the Golf Course, the Buildings, the Golf Project Land and the Golf Project 
Equipment (collectively, the Golf Course, the Buildings, the Golf Project Land and the Golf 
Project Equipment are referred to as the “Golf Project”); and (v) lease of the Golf Project Land 
from the Agency to ERREI; and  
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to General Municipal Law Section 859-a, on Monday, June 13, 2016 
at 10:30 a.m., local time, at the Legislative Hearing Room, Sullivan County Government Center, 
100 North Street, Monticello, New York, the Agency held a public hearing with respect to the Golf 
Project and the proposed financial assistance being contemplated by the Agency (the “Golf Project 
Public Hearing”) whereat interested parties were provided a reasonable opportunity, both orally 
and in writing, to present their views.  A summary of the Minutes of the Golf Project Public 
Hearing together with the Notice of Golf Project Public Hearing published and forwarded to the 
affected taxing jurisdictions ten (10) days prior to said Golf Project Public Hearing were attached 
to Resolution No. 21-16; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law and the 
regulations adopted pursuant thereto by the Department of Environmental Conservation of the 
State of New York (“SEQR”), the Agency constitutes a “State Agency”; and 
 
 WHEREAS, to aid the Agency in determining whether the Golf Project may have 
significant adverse effects on the environment, ERREI presented a Full Environmental Assessment 
Form (“EAF”) and supporting SEQR documents, including a Technical Memorandum with 
Appendices, to the Agency with respect to the Golf Project for its review; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency determined that the Golf Project is an Unlisted Action under 
SEQR; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency gave due consideration to the Golf Project Application of ERREI 
and to representations by ERREI that the proposed financial assistance is an inducement to ERREI 
to undertake the Golf Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, prior to adoption of Resolution No. 21-16 on June 20, 2016, the Agency 
considered the following matters as more fully set forth in its then in effect Uniform Tax 
Exemption Policies (“UTEPs”): 



 

 

 
A. Permanent private sector job creation and retention; 
B. Estimated value of the tax exemption; 
C. Whether the affected taxing jurisdictions shall be reimbursed by ERREI if the Golf 

Project does not fulfill the purposes for which the exemption was granted; 
D. Impact of the Golf Project on existing and proposed business or economic 

development projects; 
E. The amount of private sector investment generated or likely to be generated by the 

Golf Project; 
F. Demonstrated public support for the Golf Project; 
G. Likelihood of accomplishing the Golf Project in a timely fashion; 
H. Environmental impact; 
I. Extent to which the Golf Project will require additional services including, but not 

limited to educational, police, transportation, EMS and fire; 
J. Extent to which the Golf Project will provide additional revenues; and 
K. Extent to which the Golf Project will serve the public purposes of the Act by 

preserving permanent, private sector jobs or increasing the overall number of 
permanent, private sector jobs in the State; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Golf Project fell within the Agency’s “Destination Resort Programa” under 
the Agency’s then in effect UTEP; and 
 

WHEREAS, as further set forth in Resolution No. 21-16 on June 20, 2016, the Agency 
determined that, based on representations made by the ERREI to the Agency, a review of the EAF 
and supporting SEQR documents, including a Technical Memorandum with Appendices, the Golf 
Project would result in no major impacts and therefore, is one which may not cause significant 
damage to the environment and will not have a “significant effect on the environment” as such 
quoted term is defined in Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law and Regulations 
adopted pursuant thereto by the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation and 
that no “environmental impact statement” as such quoted term is defined in SEQR need be 
prepared for this action, and that such determination constituted a negative declaration of 
environmental significance for purposes of SEQR and adopted a Negative Declaration of 
Environmental Significance.       

 
WHEREAS, the Agency desired to encourage ERREI to advance the job opportunities, 

health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of Sullivan County, New York by 
providing the contemplated financial assistance and undertaking the Golf Project; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Executive Director negotiated the Golf Project Transaction Documents 
with ERREI; and  
 
 WHEREAS, on or about December 22, 2016, the Agency (i) designated ERREI as its agent 
for the purpose of acquiring, constructing, installing and equipping the Golf Project; (ii) negotiated 
and entered into an Agent Agreement, a Lease, a Leaseback and a PILOT Agreement with ERREI 

 
a The Destination Resort Program was eliminated by the Agency on March 14, 2022 by Resolution No. 10-22. 



 

 

(collectively, the “Golf Project Transaction Documents”); (iii) took a leasehold interest in the Golf 
Project Land, the improvements and personal property thereon which constitute the Golf Project; 
and (iv) provided financial assistance to ERREI in the form of (a) sales tax exemption for purchases 
related to the acquisition, construction, installation and equipping of the Golf Project; (b) a real 
property tax abatement on increased value resulting from improvements to the Golf Project Land 
through a PILOT Agreement; and (c) a mortgage recording tax exemption for financing related to 
the Golf Project; and 
 

WHEREAS, on or about December 22, 2016, the Agency and the EPT Entities entered into 
a Third Omnibus Amendment of the EPT Transaction Documents to amend the project description 
to remove the Golf Project Land from the project description and reduce the TVSP as established 
in Section 1.3(a) of the EPT PILOT Agreement; and 

 
WHEREAS, by letter dated March 9, 2022, ERREI requested the Agency amend the Golf 

Project Transaction Documents to reflect proposed amendments to the Golf Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, by letter dated March 23, 2022, ERREI requested the Agency amend the Golf 
Project PILOT Agreement so the sixteen- (16) year period of benefits starts the year following 
completion of the Golf Project; and 
 

WHEREAS, to aid the Agency in determining whether proposed amendments to the Golf 
Project may have significant adverse effects on the environment, the Agency reviewed the EAF 
and supporting SEQR documents, including a Technical Memorandum with Appendices, to the 
Agency with respect to the Golf Project for its review; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency determined that based on representations made by ERREI, the 
proposed amendments to the Golf Project will result in a reduction of impacts and therefore the 
Golf Project remains an Unlisted Action under SEQR; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Agency determined that, based on representations made by ERREI to the 
Agency, a review of the EAF and supporting SEQR documents, including a Technical 
Memorandum with Appendices, the Golf Project would result in no major impacts and therefore, 
is one which may not cause significant damage to the environment and will not have a “significant 
effect on the environment” as such quoted term is defined in Article 8 of the Environmental 
Conservation Law and Regulations adopted pursuant thereto by the New York State Department 
of Environmental Conservation and that no “environmental impact statement” as such quoted term 
is defined in SEQR need be prepared for this action, and that such determination constituted a 
negative declaration of environmental significance for purposes of SEQR and ratifies the 
previously adopted Negative Declaration of Environmental Significance; and  

 
WHEREAS, on or about March 31, 2022, the Agency and ERREI entered into an (i) 

Amended and Restated Agent and Project Agreement; (ii) Omnibus Amendment to Project 
Documents and (iii) First Amended PILOT Agreement to amend the Golf Project Transaction 
Documents as follows: 

 



 

 

A. Modify the description of the Golf Project to update the reference of “an 
approximately 14,000+ square foot clubhouse” to “a comfort station including 
restrooms and light snacks”;  

B. Increase the total budget from $17,600,000 to $33,700,000; 
C. Increase the total authorized exempt purchases by an additional $12,125,000; 
D. Increase the authorized sales tax exemption by an additional $970,000; and  
E. Extend the date for completion to June 1, 2023. 
F. Amend the PILOT Agreement so the sixteen- (16) year period of benefits starts 

the year following completion of the Golf Project; and  
 

WHEREAS, by letter from Karen M. Cho, General Counsel, dated June 7, 2023, MOC 
requested a three (3) year extension of the PILOT benefit period; and 

WHEREAS, by Resolution 39-23, duly adopted by the Agency on October 16, 2023, the 
Agency authorized extension of the MOC PILOT for the Resorts World Catskills (“RWC”) casino 
for a period of two (2) years based on the findings adopted by Resolution 39-23; and 

WHEREAS, the Employment Goals for the ERREI’s project are based on the employment 
obligations of MOC; and 

WHEREAS, by letter dated November 6, 2023, Karen M. Cho, General Counsel to RWC, 
requested a two (2) year extension of ERREI’s PILOT.  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE AGENCY AS 
FOLLOWS:  

Section 1. In reliance on the findings as set forth in Resolution No. 39-23 and since 
employment goals are based on the aggregate reporting of Employment Obligations 
as contemplated by the MOC PILOT, the Agency is willing to extend ERREI’s 
PILOT benefit period for a period of two (2) years. 

 
Section 2. The extension of the PILOT benefit period will necessarily require an extension of 

the Lease to Agency and Leaseback to Company by two (2) years. 
 
Section 3. The Chairperson or Executive Director, either acting individually, is hereby 

authorized to execute a Second Amended Payment in Lieu of Taxation Agreement; 
an Amended and Restated Lease to Agency together with a recording memorandum 
related thereto; an Amended and Restated Leaseback to Company together with a 
recording memorandum related thereto; and any other additional documents or 
instruments necessary to implement the intent of these resolutions. 

 
  



 

 

Section 4. The foregoing are conditioned on compliance by ERREI of each of the following: 
 

1) ERREI shall pay the Agency an administrative fee in the amount of One 
Thousand and 00/l00 ($1,000.00) Dollars to defray the Agency’s cost of 
implementing these resolutions and notifying impacted Taxing Jurisdictions. 
 

2) ERREI shall reimburse the Agency or directly pay all professional fees of the 
Agency incurred to implement the extension of the PILOT benefit period. 

 
Section 5. The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby authorized and 

directed for and in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts and things 
required and to execute and deliver all such certificates, instruments and 
documents, to pay all such fees, charges and expenses and to do all such further 
acts and things as may be necessary or, in the opinion of the officer, employee or 
agent acting, desirable and proper to effect the purposes of the foregoing resolutions 
and to cause compliance by the Agency with all of the terms, covenants and 
provisions of the documents executed for and on behalf of the Agency. 

 
Section 6.   These resolutions shall take effect immediately. 
 
 The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolutions was duly put to a vote on roll 
call, which resulted as follows: 
 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Edward T. Sykes  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Carol Roig   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Howard Siegel   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Scott Smith   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Paul Guenther   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Sean Brooks   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Philip Vallone   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Kathleen Lara   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
  
 The resolution was thereupon duly adopted. 
  



 

 

STATE OF NEW YORK : 
              :SS 
COUNTY OF SULLIVAN    : 
 
 I, the undersigned Secretary of the Agency DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT: 
 
1. I have compared the foregoing copy of a resolution of the County of Sullivan Industrial 

Development Agency (“Agency”) with the original thereof on file in the office of the 
Agency, and that the same is a true and correct copy of such resolution and of the 
proceedings of the Agency in connection with such matter. 

 
2. Such resolution was passed at a meeting of the Agency duly convened in public session on 

November 13, 2023 at 11:00 a.m. at the Sullivan County Government Center, 100 North 
Street, Village of Monticello, Sullivan County, New York, at which the following members 
were present: 

     PRESENT  ABSENT 
  
 Suzanne Loughlin  [     ]  [     ] 
 Edward T. Sykes  [     ]  [     ] 
 Carol Roig   [     ]  [     ] 
 Howard Siegel   [     ]  [     ] 
 Scott Smith   [     ]  [     ] 
 Paul Guenther                         [     ]  [     ] 
 Sean Brooks   [     ]  [     ]  
 Philip Vallone   [     ]  [     ] 
 Kathleen Lara   [     ]  [     ] 
 
3. The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call 

which resulted as follows: 
 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Edward T. Sykes  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Carol Roig   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Howard Siegel   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Scott Smith   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Paul Guenther   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Sean Brooks   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Philip Vallone   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Kathleen Lara   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 
 and therefore, the resolution was declared duly adopted. 
  
70338-003v3 

 
  



 

 

 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that (i) all members of the Agency had due notice of said meeting, 
(ii) pursuant to Sections 103(a) and 104 of the Public Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), said 
meeting was open to the general public and public notice of the time and place of said meeting 
was duly given in accordance with such Sections 103(a) and 104, (iii) the meeting in all respects 
was duly held, and (iv) there was a quorum present throughout. 
       
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal on the 13th day of 
November, 2023. 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Carol Roig, Secretary 
  
 
 
      
 
 



 

 

RESOLUTION 
 

A regular meeting of the County of Sullivan Industrial Development Agency (“Agency”) 
was convened on November 13, 2023 at 11:00 a.m. local time at the Sullivan County Government 
Center, 100 North Street, Monticello, New York 12701. 

 
 The meeting was called to order by Vice Chairman Edward T. Sykes, and, upon the roll 
being called, the following members of the Agency were: 
 
     PRESENT  ABSENT 
   
 Suzanne Loughlin  [     ]  [     ] 
 Edward T. Sykes  [     ]  [     ] 
 Carol Roig   [     ]  [     ] 
 Howard Siegel   [     ]  [     ] 
 Scott Smith   [     ]  [     ] 
 Paul Guenther                         [     ]  [     ] 
 Sean Brooks   [     ]  [     ]  
 Philip Vallone   [     ]  [     ] 
 Kathleen Lara   [     ]  [     ] 
 
 The following persons were also present: 
 Jennifer M. Flad, Executive Director 
 John W. Kiefer, Chief Executive Officer 
 Julio Garaicoechea, Project Manager 
 Bethanii Padu, Economic Development Coordinator 
 Walter F. Garigliano, Agency General Counsel 

 
        
 The following resolution was duly offered by ___________, and seconded by 
_______________, to wit: 
 
 Resolution No. __ - 23 
        

RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING AN AMENDMENT OF THE 
EMPIRE RESORTS REAL ESTATE II, LLC (“ERREII”) PAYMENT 
IN LIEU OF TAXATION AGREEMENT TO EXTEND THE PILOT 
BENEFIT PERIOD BY TWO (2) YEARS 

 
 WHEREAS, by Title 1 of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law of the State of New 
York ("State"), as amended, and Chapter 560 of the Laws of 1970 of the State, as amended and 
codified as Section 960 of the General Municipal Law (collectively, the “Act”), the Agency was 
created with the authority and power to own, lease and sell property as authorized by the Act; and 
 
 



 

 

WHEREAS, EPT Concord II, LLC (“EPT II”) for itself and on behalf of an entity or entities 
to be formed (collectively the, “EPT Entities”) submitted an application (“EPT Application”) to 
the Agency on February 12, 2013, requesting that the Agency undertake a certain project in one or 
more phases, (the “Master Development Project”) for the benefit of the EPT Entities consisting of: 
(i) the acquisition by the Agency of a leasehold interest or other interest in approximately seventy-
one (71) parcels of land containing in the aggregate approximately 1,735 acres within the Town of 
Thompson, Sullivan County, New York (the “EPT Land”), (ii) the construction and equipping on 
the EPT Land of a master planned destination resort community to include (a) an 18-hole golf 
course with clubhouse and maintenance facilities, (b) a casino resort to include a casino, hotel, 
harness horse racetrack, grandstand/showroom, simulcast facility, banquet event center, 
restaurants and related facilities, (c) hotels, (d) a waterpark, (e) a recreational vehicle park, (f) an 
entertainment village with a cinema and supporting retail facilities, (g) a residential village 
containing a mix of unit types including condominiums, apartments, townhouses and detached 
single-family homes, a civic center and an active adult residential community, all or a portion of 
which will be connected, via a multi-use trail system, to open space (collectively, the “EPT 
Improvements”), and (iii) the acquisition in and around the EPT Land and the EPT Improvements 
of certain items of equipment and other tangible personal property (the “EPT Equipment”, and 
collectively with the EPT Land and the EPT Improvements, the “EPT Project”); and 
 

WHEREAS, on October 21, 2013, the Agency and EPT II entered into a Master 
Development and Agent Agreement authorizing the EPT Entities to proceed with certain work 
limited in scope to soil erosion and sediment control, clearing and grubbing, earthwork, 
construction of new roads and improvements and enhancements to existing roads, constructed 
wetlands, landscaping, sanitary sewer, water, storm sewer, electric power, telephone service, cable 
tv, internet connectivity, demolition of existing structures, and all other related facility, equipment, 
improvements and infrastructure costs as set forth in the EPT Application together with a Lease to 
Agency, Leaseback to Company, Payment in Lieu of Tax Agreement and related documents 
(collectively the, “EPT Transaction Documents”); and 
 

WHEREAS, on or about December 31, 2013, with the consent of the Agency, EPT II 
transferred a portion of the EPT Land to EPR Concord II, L.P. (“EPR II”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the EPT Entities and ERREII, a wholly owned subsidiary of Montreign 
Operating Company, LLC (“MOC”), entered into an agreement whereby ERREII leased a portion 
of the EPT Land from the EPT Entities effective only if MOC was selected by the New York State 
Gaming Facility Location Board to apply to the New York State Gaming Commission (“NYSGC”) 
for the award of a license to operate a Gaming Facility; and 

 
WHEREAS, on December 21, 2015, the NYSGC awarded a Gaming Facility License (the 

“Gaming Facility License”) to MOC; and 
 
WHEREAS, subsequent to the award of the Gaming Facility License, in December 2015, 

ERREII and EPR II entered into agreements wherein it was agreed that ERREII will be the entity 
developing an entertainment village hotel; and   

 
 



 

 

 WHEREAS, on or about August 17, 2017, ERREII presented an application (“EV Hotel 
Project Application”) to the Agency, a copy of which is on file at the office of the Agency, 
requesting that the Agency consider undertaking a project consisting of the: (i) acquisition, 
construction, installation and equipping of a an approximately 124,000 square foot six-story 
building to include up to 162 rooms, mixed-use spaces including a coffee shop, a restaurant, a 
night club, and retail, and parking for up to 289 cars (the “EV Hotel”), situate on one (1) parcel of 
real estate consisting of approximately 22 acres located along Joyland Road and Thompsonville 
Road, in the Town, County, State and identified on the Town tax map as all or a portion of tax 
map numbers 23.-1-54.6 (“EV Hotel Project Land”); (ii) acquisition, construction and equipping 
of the EV Hotel Project; (iii) acquisition, construction and installation thereon and therein of 
certain furniture, fixtures, machinery, equipment and tools (“EV Hotel Project Equipment”); (iv) 
construction of improvements to the EV Hotel, the EV Hotel Project Land and the EV Hotel 
Project Equipment (collectively, the EV Hotel, the EV Hotel Project Land and the EV Hotel 
Project Equipment are referred to as the “EV Hotel Project”); and (v) lease of the EV Hotel Project 
from the Agency to ERREII; and  
      
 WHEREAS, pursuant to General Municipal Law Section 859-a, on Wednesday, August 23, 
2017 at 10:30 a.m., local time, at the Legislative Hearing Room, Sullivan County Government 
Center, 100 North Street, Monticello, New York, the Agency held a public hearing with respect to 
the EV Hotel Project and the proposed financial assistance being contemplated by the Agency (the 
“EV Hotel Project Public Hearing”) whereat interested parties were provided a reasonable 
opportunity, both orally and in writing, to present their views.  A summary of the Minutes of the 
EV Hotel Project Public Hearing together with the Notice of EV Hotel Project Public Hearing 
published and forwarded to the affected taxing jurisdictions ten (10) days prior to said EV Hotel 
Project Public Hearing were attached to Resolution No. 40-17; and 
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law and the 
regulations adopted pursuant thereto by SEQR, the Town of Thompson Planning Board (“Town 
Planning Board”), acted as Lead Agency; and 

 
WHEREAS, ERREII obtained the necessary environmental and land use approvals for the 

EV Hotel Project.  Specifically, on May 24, 2017, the Town Planning Board issued its Negative 
Declaration of Environmental Significance pursuant to SEQRA for the EV Hotel Project.  
Subsequently, on May 24, 2017, the Town Planning Board adopted a resolution independently 
finding that ERREII had complied with SEQRA and granting the Final Site Development Plan 
Approval for the EV Hotel Project; and 

   
 WHEREAS, the Agency gave due consideration to the EV Hotel Project Application of 
ERREII and to representations by ERREII that the proposed financial assistance is an inducement 
to ERREII to undertake the EV Hotel Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, prior to adoption of Resolution No. 40-17 on August 23, 2017, the Agency 
considered the following matters as more fully set forth in its then in effect UTEPs: 
 

A. Permanent private sector job creation and retention; 
B. Estimated value of the tax exemption; 



 

 

C. Whether the affected taxing jurisdictions shall be reimbursed by ERREII if the EV 
Hotel Project does not fulfill the purposes for which the exemption was granted; 

D. Impact of EV Hotel Project on existing and proposed business or economic 
development projects; 

E. The amount of private sector investment generated or likely to be generated by the 
EV Hotel Project; 

F. Demonstrated public support for the EV Hotel Project; 
G. Likelihood of accomplishing the EV Hotel Project in a timely fashion; 
H. Environmental impact; 
I. Extent to which the EV Hotel Project will require additional services including, but 

not limited to educational, police, transportation, EMS and fire; 
J. Extent to which the EV Hotel Project will provide additional revenues; and 
K. Extent to which the EV Hotel Project will serve the public purposes of the Act by 

preserving permanent, private sector jobs or increasing the overall number of 
permanent, private sector jobs in the State; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the EV Hotel Project fell within the Agency’s “Destination Resort Programa” 
under the Agency’s then in effect UTEP; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Agency desired to encourage ERREII to advance the job opportunities, 
health, general prosperity and economic welfare of the people of Sullivan County, New York by 
providing the contemplated financial assistance and undertaking the EV Hotel Project; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agency’s Executive Director negotiated the EV Hotel Project Transaction 
Documents with ERREII; and 
 
 WHEREAS, on or about March 1, 2018, the Agency (i) designated ERREII as its agent for 
the purpose of acquiring, constructing, installing and equipping the EV Hotel Project; (ii) 
negotiated and entered into an Agent Agreement, a Lease, a Leaseback and a PILOT Agreement 
with ERREII (collectively, the “EV Hotel Project Transaction Documents”); (iii) took a leasehold 
interest in the EV Hotel Project Land, the improvements and personal property thereon which 
constitute the EV Hotel Project; and (iv) provide financial assistance to ERREII in the form of (a) 
sales tax exemption for purchases related to the acquisition, construction, installation and 
equipping of the EV Hotel Project; (b) a real property tax abatement on increased value resulting 
from improvements to the EV Hotel Project Land through a PILOT Agreement; and (c) a mortgage 
recording tax exemption for financing related to the EV Hotel Project; and 
 

WHEREAS, on or about March 1, 2018, the Agency and the EPT Entities entered into a 
Fifth Omnibus Amendment of the EPT Transaction Documents to amend the project description 
to remove the EV Hotel Project Land from the project description and reduce the TVSP as 
established in Section 1.3(a) of the EPT PILOT Agreement; and 

 
  

 
a The Destination Resort Program was eliminated by the Agency on March 14, 2022 by Resolution No. 10-22. 



 

 

WHEREAS, by letter dated March 9, 2022, ERREII requested the Agency amend the EV 
Hotel Project Transaction Documents to reflect proposed amendments to the EV Hotel Project; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, ERREII proposed to amend the EV Hotel project to construct a golf club house 
inside The Alder Hotel, including locker rooms, a pro shop and offices; and  

 
WHEREAS, based on representations made by ERREII to the Agency, a review of the 

short-form EAF and supporting SEQR documents, the Agency finds that (a) pursuant to 6 NYCRR 
Section 617.5(c)(1), (2), and (9), the EV Hotel Project is a “Type II action”; and (b) therefore, the 
Agency hereby determines that no environmental impact statement or any other determination or 
procedure is required under Article 8 of the Environmental Conservation Law; and 

 
WHEREAS, on or about March 31, 2022, the Agency and ERREII entered into an (i) First 

Amendment to Agent and Project Agreement; (ii) Amended and Restated Agent and Project 
Agreement; (iii) Omnibus Amendment to Project Documents and (iv) First Amended PILOT 
Agreement to amend the EV Hotel Project Transaction Documents as follows: 

 
A. Modify the description of the EV Hotel Project to include construction of a 

golf club house inside The Alder Hotel, including locker rooms, a pro shop 
and offices;  

B. Increase the total budget by $300,000; 
C. Increase the total authorized exempt purchases by an additional $250,000; 
D. Increase the sales tax exemption by an additional $20,000; 
E. Extend the date for completion to June 1, 2023; and 
F. Amend the PILOT Agreement governing the EV Hotel Project to increase the 

TVSP for periods on and after January 1, 2025; and  
 

WHEREAS, by letter from Karen M. Cho, General Counsel, dated June 7, 2023, MOC 
requested a three (3) year extension of the PILOT benefit period; and 

WHEREAS, by Resolution 39-23, duly adopted by the Agency on October 16, 2023, the 
Agency authorized extension of the MOC PILOT for the Resorts World Catskills (“RWC”) casino 
for a period of two (2) years based on the findings adopted by Resolution 39-23; and 

WHEREAS, the Employment Goals for ERREII’s project are based on the employment 
obligations of MOC; and 

WHEREAS, by letter dated November 6, 2023, Karen M. Cho, General Counsel to RWC, 
requested a two (2) year extension of ERREII’s PILOT.  

  



 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MEMBERS OF THE AGENCY AS 
FOLLOWS:  
 
Section 1. In reliance on the findings as set forth in Resolution No. 39-23 and since 

employment goals are based on the aggregate reporting of Employment Obligations 
as contemplated by the MOC PILOT, the Agency is willing to extend ERREII’s 
PILOT benefit period for a period of two (2) years. 

 
Section 2. The extension of the PILOT benefit period will necessarily require an extension of 

the Lease to Agency and Leaseback to Company by two (2) years. 
 
Section 3. The Chairperson or Executive Director, either acting individually, is hereby 

authorized to execute a Second Amended Payment in Lieu of Taxation Agreement; 
an Amended and Restated Lease to Agency together with a recording memorandum 
related thereto; an Amended and Restated Leaseback to Company together with a 
recording memorandum related thereto; and any other additional documents or 
instruments necessary to implement the intent of these resolutions. 

 
Section 4. The foregoing are conditioned on compliance by ERREII of each of the following: 
 

1) ERREII shall pay the Agency an administrative fee in the amount of One 
Thousand and 00/l00 ($1,000.00) Dollars to defray the Agency’s cost of 
implementing these resolutions and notifying impacted Taxing Jurisdictions. 
 

2) ERREII shall reimburse the Agency or directly pay all professional fees of the 
Agency incurred to implement the extension of the PILOT benefit period. 

 
Section 6. The officers, employees and agents of the Agency are hereby authorized and 

directed for and in the name and on behalf of the Agency to do all acts and things 
required and to execute and deliver all such certificates, instruments and 
documents, to pay all such fees, charges and expenses and to do all such further 
acts and things as may be necessary or, in the opinion of the officer, employee or 
agent acting, desirable and proper to effect the purposes of the foregoing resolutions 
and to cause compliance by the Agency with all of the terms, covenants and 
provisions of the documents executed for and on behalf of the Agency. 

 
Section 7.   These resolutions shall take effect immediately. 
 
  



 

 

 The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolutions was duly put to a vote on roll 
call, which resulted as follows: 
 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Edward T. Sykes  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Carol Roig   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Howard Siegel   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Scott Smith   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Paul Guenther   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Sean Brooks   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Philip Vallone   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Kathleen Lara   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
  
 The resolution was thereupon duly adopted. 
  



 

 

STATE OF NEW YORK : 
              :SS 
COUNTY OF SULLIVAN    : 
 
 I, the undersigned Secretary of the Agency DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT: 
 
1. I have compared the foregoing copy of a resolution of the County of Sullivan Industrial 

Development Agency (“Agency”) with the original thereof on file in the office of the 
Agency, and that the same is a true and correct copy of such resolution and of the 
proceedings of the Agency in connection with such matter. 

 
2. Such resolution was passed at a meeting of the Agency duly convened in public session on 

November 13, 2023 at 11:00 a.m. at the Sullivan County Government Center, 100 North 
Street, Village of Monticello, Sullivan County, New York, at which the following members 
were present: 

     PRESENT  ABSENT 
  
 Suzanne Loughlin  [     ]  [     ] 
 Edward T. Sykes  [     ]  [     ] 
 Carol Roig   [     ]  [     ] 
 Howard Siegel   [     ]  [     ] 
 Scott Smith   [     ]  [     ] 
 Paul Guenther                         [     ]  [     ] 
 Sean Brooks   [     ]  [     ]  
 Philip Vallone   [     ]  [     ] 
 Kathleen Lara   [     ]  [     ] 
 
3. The question of the adoption of the foregoing resolution was duly put to a vote on roll call 

which resulted as follows: 
 
 Suzanne Loughlin  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Edward T. Sykes  [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Carol Roig   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Howard Siegel   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Scott Smith   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Paul Guenther   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Sean Brooks   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Philip Vallone   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 Kathleen Lara   [    ] Yes         [    ] No        [    ] Absent        [    ] Abstain 
 
 and therefore, the resolution was declared duly adopted. 
  
70338-004v3 

 
  



 

 

 
 I FURTHER CERTIFY that (i) all members of the Agency had due notice of said meeting, 
(ii) pursuant to Sections 103(a) and 104 of the Public Officers Law (Open Meetings Law), said 
meeting was open to the general public and public notice of the time and place of said meeting 
was duly given in accordance with such Sections 103(a) and 104, (iii) the meeting in all respects 
was duly held, and (iv) there was a quorum present throughout. 
       
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal on the 13th day of 
November, 2023. 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Carol Roig, Secretary 
  
 
 
      
 
 


	Notice and Agenda
	Draft Minutes 10-16-23
	Schedule of Payments
	October Staff Report
	M E P Gibbers Application
	M E P Gibbers Public Hearing Notice
	M E P Gibbers Cost Benefit
	M E P Gibbers County Manager Letter
	M E P Gibbers Resolution 60426-001v2
	Dimifini-Fallsburg Request
	Dimifini-Fallsburg Resolution 70338-002v3
	Golf & Alder Hotel Request
	Golf Resolution 70338-003v3
	Alder Hotel Resolution 70338-004v3

